MINUTES OF THE OAK CREEK PLAN COMMISSION MEETING TUESDAY, JANUARY 12, 2021

Mayor Bukiewicz called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. The following Commissioners were present at roll call: Commissioner Hanna, Commissioner Sullivan, Commissioner Carrillo, Alderman Loreck, Mayor Bukiewicz, Alderman Guzikowski, Commissioner Oldani, Commissioner Siepert, and Commissioner Chandler. Also present: Kari Papelbon, Planner; Doug Seymour, Director of Community Development; and Mike Havey, Assistant Fire Chief. Kevin Koenig, IT Manager, facilitated the video conference.

Planner Papelbon read the following into the record:

The City of Oak Creek is authorized to hold this public meeting remotely during the COVID-19 public health emergency under the March 16 and March 20 advisories from the Office of Open Government in the Wisconsin Department of Justice and subsequent Common Council approvals. Per the advisories and approvals, this meeting being conducted via Zoom video conference with telephone conferencing capabilities was duly noticed per the City of Oak Creek Municipal Code and Statutory notice requirements more than 24 hours in advance of the meeting. Members of the public have been advised of the options for participation via direct mailing to property owners within 300 feet of a proposal, via the COVID-19 information page on the City's website, via social media, and via the information contained on the meeting agenda. This meeting may also be viewed at the City's YouTube page, the link for which was contained in all aforementioned notice methods. The meeting recording will also be accessible on the City's YouTube page within 48 hours.

Plan Commissioners and participants are initially muted upon joining the meeting. Plan Commissioners and staff have the ability to mute and unmute their microphones throughout the meeting. Please mute at all times except for roll call, motions, voting, and when recognized by the Chair. Roll call and voting will occur per the usual and customary procedure, starting from Plan Commissioner seating positions south to north in the Common Council Chambers (e.g., Hanna, Sullivan, Carrillo, Loreck, Bukiewicz, Guzikowski, Oldani, Siepert, Chandler). The Chair will facilitate questions and comments by calling on each Plan Commissioner, or by requesting the use of the "raise hand" function in the Zoom webinar control panel. Only speak once you have been recognized by the Chair or moderator.

Applicants, their representatives, and all other participants who wish to speak will be unmuted

- When there is a direct request for information from the Plan Commission or staff;
- When the participant utilizes the "raise hand" function within the Zoom webinar control panel, and the moderator verbally indicates that they are unmuted;
- When a phone participant dials *9 to indicate they wish to speak, and the moderator verbally indicates that their line is open.

When unmuted, all participants must state their name and address for the record, then proceed with comments or questions.

Questions and comments may also be entered into the Q&A function within the Zoom webinar control panel. Staff and/or the moderator will monitor this function during the meeting, and provide the information requested. There shall be no private messages or side conversations during the meeting utilizing the chat or Q&A functions. Chat and Q&A messages are part of the public record.

Nomination and election/appointment of Secretary

Commissioner Oldani nominated Planner Papelbon as Secretary. Commissioner Siepert seconded.

Mayor Bukiewicz made two more calls for nominations. There were none.

On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

Minutes of the December 8, 2020 Special Plan Commission meeting

Commissioner Siepert moved to approve the minutes of the Special Plan Commission held on December 8, 2020 meeting. Commissioner Chandler seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

Minutes of the December 8, 2020 meeting

Commissioner Siepert moved to approve the minutes of the December 8, 2020 meeting. Commissioner Chandler seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

MINOR LAND DIVISION GONZALO COUTO-LAIN 9005 & 9010 S 11[™] AVE. TAX KEY NOS. 864-9003-002 & 864-9003-003

Planner Papelbon provided an overview of a Certified Survey Map requesting to combine the properties at 9005 & 9010 S. 11th Avenue (see staff report for details).

Lisa Johnson, 9036 South Carollton Drive:

"I'm wondering about the property being wetlands and the properties that he's looking to put on this has been wetlands for how many years? Our neighbor two doors down always get their basement flooded where he's building the house right behind them. So, that has been wetlands for how many years, and all of a sudden, we got okay to build two houses on that property. The neighbor two doors to our north has always gotten their basement flooded and that's right where the house is being built. I don't you know; how could this not be a problem with these homes?"

Mayor Bukiewicz clarified this proposal is to combine the properties into one parcel, which would prevent a second house from being built. An accessory structure could possibly be built on the property in a non-wetland area.

Planner Papelbon explained there is a single-family house currently under construction between the wetlands. Between 2013 and 2015 there was a Certified Survey Map to divide the properties into two single-family residential lots. This proposal would join the properties to create one lot, and would only allow for one single-family house, which is currently under construction. The only other items allowed to be constructed on the property would be accessory structures in conformation with Code requirements and outside of wetlands.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"I am the homeowner south of the subjective properties. My concern is my property line.

The egress, the wetlands that might be hindered by this land owner and building of homes. I know other people are concerned about flooding and I am also because my land is abutting this land. And I know that there were certain other property owners that got away with getting rid of the conservancy and I'd like to have the conservancy maintained by the DNR and also Oak Creek."

Mayor Bukiewicz asked Planner Papelbon to confirm that by combining the properties it would limit the land owner to one single-family home.

Planner Papelbon confirmed this is correct, and clarified that the wetlands are not being amended or filled. The current construction is happening between the wetlands that were delineated by SEWRPC in conformation with DNR regulations. The wetlands will not change.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"I'm just concerned about my lot line, that I don't want disturbed by my lot line because I have a buffer zone between my lot and also this proposed lot. So, you're saying there's only going to be one home built on this lot?"

Mayor Bukiewicz confirmed.

Planner Papelbon also confirmed and reiterated that combining the lots would allow for one single-family residence, currently under construction, with no disturbance to the wetlands.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"And that's on the location map?"

Planner Papelbon confirmed the home under construction is in the northwest corner, between the wetlands, and north of the utility easement.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"So, just east of the cul-de-sac?"

Mayor Bukiewicz clarified that the house would be just southwest of the cul-de-sac.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"Okay. Well the picture I have is just east of the cul-de-sac."

Alderman Guzikowski and Mayor Bukiewicz inquired if Mr. Seaman would be able to see the house under construction.

William Seaman, 3570 E American Ave:

"No, there's too much land between mine and theirs, too many trees. Check it out if I went for a drive, but I guess I will just to make sure. I'm just concerned about my lot line, that's all I'm concerned about."

Mayor Bukiewicz estimated the house is 300 feet from Mr. Seaman's lot line.

Don Hecker 9044 S. Carollton Dr:

"My question is, I have lived here for 30 years. Two previous owners had owned that land that wanted to build houses there and they were told they could not because it was considered a wetland. Now, why is it with this owner, he was permitted permission to build, when the other two were not?"

Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he guessed that it was dependent upon the proposed location of the homes and how the wetlands were delineated, but referred to Planner Papelbon.

Planner Papelbon stated the wetland delineation was conducted in 2015. The CSM shows pockets were the wetlands are on the property, and where there are buildable areas. The current home under construction was allowed because it does not disturb any of the wetlands. This proposal would keep it as one home on one lot.

Don Hecker 9044 S. Carollton Dr:

"But the previous owners were trying to work with the City to find a place to build a home and they said they could not. I have talked to two previous owners prior to this."

Planner Papelbon reiterated that the previous landowner divided the property, and were aware of the wetlands. These wetlands were never placed into a conservancy program, and since the wetlands that have been delineated are not being disturbed, the current landowner is allowed to develop in conformation with Code.

Don Hecker 9044 S. Carollton Dr:

Inaudible... "not agree with it because I just don't think it's right."

Mayor Bukiewicz stated the property owner has a right to develop it as long as they meet Code.

Gonzalo Couto-Lain, property owner, 219 N. 38th St, Milwaukee:

"So, I see that we have three questions here. I would like to answer them in order. The first one was Lisa and she was talking about my neighbors or my future neighbors' basement flooding. I understand that that's been a problem there. This house has no basement. Therefore, there will not be any basement to be flooded. The second one came from William on 3570 American, I believe, though, that he's the neighbor on the southeast corner. Right, where the monument is and the house that I'm building is approximately 570 feet from his property and there's not going to be any disturbance to any of wetlands. I actually, it is my intention to conserve the wetlands and recover some of it. There's been some invasive species, vegetation, that we're going to remedy and we're in touch with some conservancy groups that are going to give us a hand and they're volunteering to help us restore wetlands through to the pristine condition as possible. And the last one about Don Hecker I, I am not sure what previous owners before 2015 had a problem with, but the people that we bought the property from which are the ones who pay to have the cul-de-sac made was that was built then there was road access to dry lands where it's possible to build. I cannot answer for what happened in the past. Right now, there is access for a driveway that's approximately 140 feet long to get into an area where there's enough space to build a house. Yeah, if they have any other questions, I'd be glad to answer them."

Alderman Loreck stated that he believes this would be a better option for neighbors as it would

limit the number of houses that could be built on that land.

Alderman Guzikowski agreed with Alderman Loreck.

Alderman Loreck moved that the Plan Commission recommends to the Common Council that the Certified Survey Map submitted by Gonzalo Couto-Lain for the properties at 9005 & 9010 S. 11th Ave. be approved with the following condition:

That all technical corrections, including, but not limited to spelling errors, minor coordinate geometry corrections, and corrections required for compliance with the Municipal Code and Wisconsin Statutes, are made prior to recording.

Commissioner Siepert seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT OC HOLDINGS, LLC 10001 S HOWELL AVE TAX KEY NO. 924-9009-001

Planner Papelbon provided an overview of the request for a Conditional Use Permit for outdoor storage of materials (crates) (see staff report for details).

Terry Baker, 10015 S Cindy Lane:

"Hi, my name is Terry Baker my address is 10015 South Cindy Lane, directly across from the facility itself. My initial concern was I didn't know what was going to be stored there. It could have been cranes or something that was sticking up in the air. I see their building, every day, it seems to me that the location that's proposed for the storage is not going to be a detriment. When I look out there I'm not going to really see it if it's on the southwest corner and if it's screened. I don't have an issue with that then. My, my main concern was what, what was going to be proposed for, for the storage. What were they going to be storing on that property?"

Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he believes it would be large mining parts.

Terry Baker, 10015 S. Cindy Lane:

"And that's absolutely fine. I just didn't know if it was going to be completed machines, cranes, something that was gonna be, you know, be an eyesore to look at."

Planner Papelbon clarified that the request would be restricted to the proposed crates. The contents of the crates are irrelevant, as long as they are not flammable or hazardous materials. Screening would be required for the crates.

Mayor Bukiewicz inquired if the height and size of the crates would be limited.

Planner Papelbon stated the Plan Commission can limit the height of the crates and what would be visible above the fence.

Mayor Bukiewicz inquired again if the Plan Commission could limit the size of the crates.

Planner Papelbon reiterated there would be a height limitation, and the Conditional Use Permit would not allow any stacking such that the crates would be visible above the fence line.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked Mr. Baker if he had anything else.

Terry Baker, 10015 S. Cindy Lane:

"Yeah, that's it. That was just I really wanted to find out what the planned what besides crates if there was anything else that they planned on storing there and I don't have an issue with the crates and if it's going to be screened and, you know, kept below the fence line."

Doug Dearborn, General Manager of Distribution and Logistics, Komatsu, W7702 Hwy. 18, Fort Atkinson, explained the proposed storage could be achieved in an aesthetically-pleasing manner. There will be no hazardous or flammable materials - only parts for shipping worldwide. Mr. Dearborn also explained that the large parts shown in the photo of Komatsu's Milwaukee location will not be coming to the Oak Creek location. The applicants are looking to work with the City of Oak Creek on contingencies to continue the expansion.

Kevin Risch, 8308 47th Avenue, Kenosha, Senior Project Engineer, Clark Dietz Inc. representing site owner and tenant, Komatsu. There is a total of about 165 employees that work at this site. Mr. Risch explained the purpose of this expansion is to allow Komatsu to consolidate its distribution capacity. Space limitations within the existing building have led to the request of outdoor storage. The applicants intend to provide all documents referenced by Planner Papelbon in her introduction. The applicants met with Alderman Gehl to go over any concerns that he has for the neighboring properties. The applicants will look to satisfy any of those concerns. The outdoor storage area will be approximately 10% of the parcel. The addition of this pavement surface is necessary for the merger of the Milwaukee facility. The recommendation of expanding the building would have a much greater impact financially. This proposal will still meet the minimum green space requirements of the Oak Creek Code. The applicants agree to place a sixfoot-high curve barrier to prevent the crates from going into the grassy area. The total number of crates will vary. Some of the items may be up to 12 feet, but that would be an exception. Komatsu would like to proceed with a vegetation-type screen as opposed to fence materials. The applicants will work with staff to make sure the lighting will not exceed the foot candles. Komatsu is looking to work with Oak Creek to meet all requirements.

Christopher Farmer, Operations Manager, 2437 Mariah Lane, Oconomowoc, is willing to propose any considerations or contingencies to Komatsu leadership to meet the requirements of Oak Creek. This is a global distribution center. Materials are brought in from all over North America and then distributed all over the world. This project is in conjunction with plans to build a new facility downtown. Komatsu is hoping to engender the relationship with Oak Creek, and hoping to gain the approval through whatever means necessary.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicants if this storage area would only include items from the Milwaukee facility.

Mr. Farmer clarified it would be a combination of items from Milwaukee and Oak Creek. Mr. Farmer stated Komatsu is reducing its production totals at the Milwaukee plant by 40%. This will reduce the total number of crates that will be coming to the Oak Creek facility.

Commissioner Chandler inquired if this would be temporary.

Mr. Farmer stated it would be for the foreseeable future with the intent to make this location a central distribution location for Komatsu.

Mr. Dearborn stated 80% of the product would be brought to the Oak Creek location, with the other 20% going to the South Shore facility. The larger items would be housed at the South Shore facility. This would be a temporary staging area for shipping, as a continuous operation.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant how the crates will be contained to the defined area.

Mr. Farmer explained that disciplined lines are a huge part of the process input. Mr. Farmer continued by stating the success of Komatsu's business is strictly tied to how disciplined the material is run and moved.

Commissioner Chandler inquired why these items would be stored on the outside verses on the inside.

Mr. Farmer said it is for space allocation. About 90 - 95% of the facility is fully occupied. Komatsu intends to move in a few small operations from a packing perspective into the Oak Creek facility.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant why the crates are stacked so high.

Mr. Farmer clarified that the crates would not be stacked 12 feet high; however, there are some exceptions of materials that are 12 feet high. Mr. Farmer reiterated that products are usually shipped out within a few days of being packed up, and will not be stored for a long period of time.

Commissioner Chandler asked to clarify that 12 feet is just a possibility and not the norm.

Mr. Farmer confirmed it would be an exception not the rule.

Commissioner Siepert asked the applicant what inventory level is maintained in the storage area. Commissioner Siepert inquired if it fluctuated every day or if it is somewhat fixed.

Mr. Dearborn stated it is a variable, and will fluctuate based on industry activity; however, the presented plan is a maximum plan. Mr. Dearborn gave a rough estimate of 100 crates.

Commissioner Siepert asked if the crates will be closed while outside.

Mr. Dearborn stated the crates will be closed and prepared for export shipping.

Commissioner Oldani asked Planner Papelbon if the applicant would need to come back for conditions on fencing, lighting, etc.

Planner Papelbon explained if this item is recommended for Council approval, it would include draft Conditions and Restrictions for Plan Commission review at the January 26, 2021 meeting. The Conditions and Restrictions would address the staff concerns and items Komatsu has stated they are willing to provide. The whole package would go before Common Council for approval.

Alderman Guzikowski applauded Komatsu for trying to bring in more business and being a great corporate citizen; however, he stated that he has concerns regarding the outdoor storage. Alderman Guzikowski asked if anyone from the Fire Department has any concerns.

Assistant Fire Chief Havey stated that he worked with the Planning staff earlier. Fire was also concerned about the combustibility of the items being stored in the crates. The proposed products

that will be stored are non-combustible. The crates should not be stored adjacent to the structure. If the crates are being stored outside the proposed area, the Fire Department might have some more issues.

Alderman Guzikowski inquired how this would fit into the updated Zoning Code.

Alderman Loreck agreed that Komatsu seems to be a great corporate partner in Oak Creek, and would like to work with them to come to a mutual agreement. Alderman Loreck stated that he has concerns about how the outdoor storage will look; however, if something can be done to limit the visibility, he would support it.

Commissioner Sullivan stated that he is concerned that allowing businesses to create additional outdoor storage because it is the most cost-effective option is not what is best for the community. Engineering is also concerned about stormwater management, but that would be addressed when the plan comes forward.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked to confirm that the additional impervious area and asphalt would be on the west and south sides of the building.

Mr. Farmer confirmed most of the storage would be on the west and southwest sides of the building, with staging for shipping on the southeast portion.

Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he is concerned about protecting the neighbors to the north. Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he is also concerned about the lighting. Mayor Bukiewicz asked who owns the land to the west of Komatsu.

Planner Papelbon stated it is Milwaukee County-owned land.

Director Seymour stated the property was part of the land deal between Milwaukee County and Ryan Business Park. That land is currently in conservancy and will remain in conservancy.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked what is the best way to protect the Fairfield neighborhood.

Mr. Farmer stated the applicant could add a berm in that area to raise vegetation. There would potentially be some light pollution; however, that could be protected against by the type of vegetation and trees that are installed. There would be a similar plan to run parallel to Howell Avenue to make sure nothing can be seen from the southeast side.

Mr. Dearborn asked Mr. Farmer if the area on the north already has a berm and vegetation.

Mr. Farmer explained there is to a point, but it recedes. The new plan would continue that berm.

Mayor Bukiewicz inquired if the area on the north is primarily for queueing up semi-trailers.

Mr. Farmer confirmed, and reiterated that the applicants are willing to meet all conditions and contingencies that are not cost-prohibitive. The applicant is willing to have conversations about removing concrete or asphalt in order to maintain a higher level of green space.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked to confirm that if this Conditional Use Permit is approved, then the applicant would come back to Plan Commission with Conditions and Restrictions.

Planner Papelbon confirmed if this is application is recommended for Council approval then staff would draft Conditions and Restrictions addressing concerns that were raised. The Conditions and Restrictions would be brought to the Plan Commission for consideration on January 26, 2021.

Mayor Bukiewicz sought confirmation that Komatsu is testing the waters before putting a lot of time and money into developing plans.

Planner Papelbon confirmed, and stated there might be some considerations to have the Plan Commission review plans once they become finalized.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked the applicant if there is any intent to get Alderman Gehl's or adjacent neighbor's input.

Mr. Farmer agreed, and stated that Alderman Gehl referenced a friend or family member that lived near the property. Mr. Farmer indicated that Alderman Gehl will be taking a very close look at the potential light pollution. The applicants are willing to canvas the neighbors for input.

Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he wants to respect the neighborhood to the north. Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he would like to have staff continue to work with Komatsu, have some control over the process, and involve the Alderman and neighbors.

Commissioner Oldani inquired what would happen if the Plan Commission approves this, but when the conditions are presented, Komatsu cannot afford to complete them. Commissioner Oldani questioned if more work needs to be done with staff to come up with a plan before the Plan Commission gets stuck in the middle.

Mayor Bukiewicz agreed with Commissioner Oldani, and explained that if the Conditional Use Permit is approved, but the Conditions and Restrictions cannot be met, the Plan Commission can say no at that point. Mayor Bukiewicz stated that decision is ultimately up to the Common Council.

Director Seymour explained there needs to be balance between the business' needs and the direction Oak Creek wants to go as a community. Komatsu is willing to look at ways to lessen the impact on the neighborhood. Director Seymour stated that he is hopeful that Komatsu is willing to extend the berm and reconfigure some of the paved areas. The presented plan is a maximum plan, and the outdoor storage could potentially be reduced on the north side to lessen the impact on the neighbors to the north.

Commissioner Chandler inquired what the difference is between this proposal and a previous proposal that was brought to the Plan Commission.

Mayor Bukiewicz explained that in the previous proposal, the applicant was looking to store the items on a parcel that was zoned as Institutional, whereas this storage would be on a parcel that is zoned M-1, Manufacturing. Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he is not sure this would be precedent-setting because individual applications would come down to location. The previous proposal also wanted to store the vehicles in a field, and the project was not following the required intervals. Mayor Bukiewicz asked to confirm that the motion is made in the affirmative, and the Commissioners would vote accordingly.

Planner Papelbon confirmed the motion is made in the affirmative, and if Commissioners do not support it they would vote no.

Commissioner Chandler inquired if there is a way to identify how much product would be allowed on the property.

Planner Papelbon clarified that the site plan identifies the proposed asphalt area. The Plan Commission can discuss scaling that area back; however, limiting the number of products is more difficult in terms of enforcement - the City will not be going out and counting all the crates. Staff was seeking delineation, curbing, or other physical barrier to prevent drifting of the crates. There would be a maximum height allowed in this area. Staff is concerned about temporarily having items that are higher than the height of the fence. These items would be addressed in the Conditions are Restrictions.

Director Seymour explained this is a Conditional Use Permit, and state law allows the City to set time limits. Director Seymour suggested a time limit could be added so the Plan Commission and City can revisit this item. If Komatsu leaves the facility, the Conditional Use Permit will go away. Director Seymour believes if the Plan Commission and Common Council feel this appropriate, staff can get to a level of detail that allows the City to properly enforce it.

Mr. Farmer reiterated that the storage will be on the westernmost side and the southwest corner - the other areas will be used for staging and loading trucks.

Commissioner Oldani moved that the Plan Commission recommends that the Common Council approves a Conditional Use Permit for outdoor storage of materials on the property at 10001 S. Howell Ave., after a public hearing and subject to Conditions and Restrictions that will be prepared for the Commission's review at the next meeting (January 26, 2021). Planner Papelbon clarified that the motion should read, "...a Conditional Use Permit <u>for</u> outdoor storage..." Planner Papelbon also specified that materials are crates. Commissioner Oldani made the motion as amended. Alderman Loreck seconded. On roll call: Commissioner Hanna - no, Commissioner Sullivan - no, Commissioner Carrillo - aye, Alderman Loreck - aye, Mayor Bukiewicz - aye, Alderman Guzikowski - no, Commissioner Oldani - no, Commissioner Siepert - aye, and Commissioner Chandler - no. Motion failed (4 - aye, 5 - no).

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP BLAIN SUPPLY, INC. 501 & 315 W. RAWSON AVE TAX KEY NO. 765-9046-000 & 765-9994-000

Planner Papelbon provided an overview of the Certified Survey Map request to combine the properties at 501 & 315 W. Rawson Ave. (see staff report for details).

Commissioner Siepert moved that the Plan Commission recommends to the Common Council that the Certified Survey Map submitted by David Wynn, Blain Supply, Inc., for the properties at 501 & 315 W. Rawson Ave. be approved with the following conditions:

- 1. That a 10-foot-wide public utility easement along the entire north property line is added to the map prior to recording.
- That all technical corrections, including, but not limited to spelling errors, minor coordination geometry conditions [Note: the written motion states, "minor coordinate geometry corrections], and corrections required for compliance with the Municipal Code and Wisconsin Statutes, are made prior to recording.

Alderman Guzikowski seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

PLAN REVIEW BLAIN SUPPLY, INC 501 & 315 W. RAWSON AVE TAX KEY NO. 765-9046-000 & 765-9994-000

Planner Papelbon provided an overview of the site, building, and related plan review for proposed additions to the existing building and an expansion of the existing parking lot (see staff report for details).

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant if the garden center will be replaced somewhere else.

David Wynn, Senior Design Manager for Blain's Supply Farm and Fleet, 10579 Chicory Ridge Way, Roscoe, Illinois, stated that this location has not had a garden center in the last four or five years. There are no immediate plans for bringing in a garden center.

Commissioner Chandler inquired if the trailers are currently being sold on the property.

Mr. Wynn confirmed they are currently being sold on the other end of the property in a fenced-in area. The applicant is hoping to move the trailers to the other end, and have a permanent area for trailer sales.

Commissioner Chandler asked Planner Papelbon to show the Plan Commission the locations of the previous and proposed trailer sales areas.

Planner Papelbon referenced the aerial photo to show the trailers moving from the west end of the lot to the east end.

Commissioner Chandler asked to confirm the trailers would be near the canopy.

Planner Papelbon confirmed this is correct.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant to provide more information regarding the new parking spaces.

Mr. Wynn clarified that the plan displayed by Planner Papelbon is an original submission. The landscape plan shows the revised design that includes an island with trees.

Commissioner Oldani stated that he likes the proposed plan. Commissioner Oldani suggested reversing the "in" and "out" of the proposed drive-through to accommodate more vehicles that could be in line waiting.

Mayor Bukiewicz agreed with Commissioner Oldani's suggestion.

Mr. Wynn explained that with the two-wide driveway there is quite a bit of stacking room available.

Alderman Guzikowski agreed with Commissioner Oldani, and inquired about how the tire sale would be included with this new design.

Mr. Wynn stated that the Service Center is located on the other side of the building, and typically the tires go hand-in-hand with the Service Center.

Planner Papelbon read Sara Iverson Smith's response from the Q&A box: "The reason we have the double access adjacent to the store is that we load up from the building, especially salt and bulk."

Mayor Bukiewicz stated that he believes this is a nice design and helps solve the trailer issue. Mayor Bukiewicz asked the applicant where he is going to store the trailers, and if there will be a limit.

Mr. Wynn stated that he is not certain how many trailers will be in the parking lot. He estimated that there might be 30 trailers at the most, and they would not be stacked [in the parking stalls].

Mayor Bukiewicz inquired if the trailers would be secured in any way.

Mr. Wynn stated that he believes the trailers will be chained up.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked staff if the driveway of the existing house that Blain's is acquiring will be removed.

Planner Papelbon confirmed the driveway access will be removed.

Planner Papelbon read more responses from Ms. Iverson Smith (Q&A box):

"It's long overdue for the canopy. The double lanes were installed in the most recent store in Grand Rapids to great success. To clarify, about 10 trailers will be stored outside."

Planner Papelbon stated she did a quick count on the landscape plan, and along the east side there are 23 striped stalls and eight parallel parking stalls.

Planner Papelbon continued to read responses from Ms. Iverson Smith (Q&A box):

"There's typically not a lot more than what [they] have now. And yes, they are all chained together."

Mayor Bukiewicz asked to confirm if the existing house would be razed.

Planner Papelbon confirmed.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked Mr. Wynn if Blain's would be interested in lending it [the house to be razed] to the community for fire training purposes. Mayor Bukiewicz asked Assistant Fire Chief Havey if there would be any interest in that.

Assistant Fire Chief Havey stated it might be difficult to get the permitting to do a house burn on a main thoroughfare such as Rawson Avenue; however, for just training in general, the Fire Department would take advantage of that opportunity if available. Assistant Fire Chief Havey said he would get in touch with Farm and Fleet.

Mr. Wynn stated it is something that can be discussed.

Planner Papelbon read a comment in from Ms. Iverson Smith (Q&A box):

"We could, as long as it would be completed before we need to start construction. [They'll] discuss it with legal counsel if interested, and if it passes, they will be able to complete the sale and follow up."

Alderman Loreck moved that the Plan Commission approves the site and building plans submitted by David Wynn, Blain Supply, Inc., for the properties at 501 & 315 W. Rawson Ave. with the following conditions:

- 1. That all relevant Code requirements remain in effect.
- 2. That permits are obtained for all proposed signs.
- No outdoor storage is approved as part of this plan. All requests for outdoor storage and display of retail merchandise shall require Conditional Use Permit in conformance with applicable Code requirements.
- 4. That all light sources are shielded and directed downward, that the color temperature of the fixtures are limited to a maximum of 3,500 Kelvins, and that light sources adjacent to the existing single-family residence to the east are shielded on the side of the fixture adjacent to the residence.
- 5. That the landscape plans are revised to incorporate staff comments and Code requirements.
- 6. That all detailed, revised plans are submitted in digital format to the Department of Community Development prior to submission of permit applications.

Alderman Guzikowski seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT BLAIN SUPPLY, INC. 315 W RAWSON AVE TAX KEY NO. 924-9009-001

Planner Papelbon provided an overview of the request for a Conditional Use Permit to allow outdoor display of retail merchandise (trailers) on the east side of the Farm & Fleet parking lot on the properties located at 501 & 315 W. Rawson Ave. (see staff report for details).

Commissioner Sullivan stated that he believes this is a good solution to a temporary issue the City has been dealing with for a while. Every other Farm and Fleet store in the state has some form of outdoor storage for their trailers.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant to provide more information about the screening.

Mr. Wynn stated the screening will be handled mostly with landscaping along the property line. The applicant will be adding trees to the existing trees.

Commissioner Chandler asked if there will be viewing of the trailers at night.

Mr. Wynn stated customers will be able to view the trailers during normal business hours.

Commissioner Chandler asked the applicant what the signage will look like to show these trailers are for sale.

Mr. Wynn stated it would be small signage on each trailer listing a price. There will not be large signage directing customers.

Commissioner Chandler asked if this is what is currently being done with the trailers for sale.

Mr. Wynn confirmed that it is.

Commissioner Chandler asked Planner Papelbon if it is acceptable to have a sign on each trailer.

Planner Papelbon explained the sign will be advertising the price and some details of the trailers for sale. She stated that she believes it would be the equivalent of a window sticker on a vehicle for sale.

Mayor Bukiewicz asked to clarify the allowed merchandise covered by this permit.

Planner Papelbon stated the permit would be specific to trailers - no other merchandise. Trailers were specified in the request.

Commissioner Siepert moved that the Plan Commission recommends that the Common Council approves a Conditional Use Permit Amendment to allow outdoor display of retail merchandise (trailers) on the property at 501 & 315 W. Rawson Ave., after a public hearing and subject to Conditions and Restrictions that will be that will be prepared by [Note: the written motion stated "for," not "by"] the Plan Commission's review at the next meeting (January 26, 2021). Alderman Guzikowski seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried.

Commissioner Carrillo moved to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Siepert seconded. On roll call: all voted aye. Motion carried. The meeting was adjourned at 8:29 pm.

ATTEST:

Kari Papelbon, Plan Commission Secretary

<u>1-26-21</u> Date